FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/27/2022 4:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____

In the Supreme Court of the State of Washington

In re the Marriage of

DOMINIKA RIETSCHIN,

Petitioner

v.

AXEL RIETSCHIN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 82473-2-I; Kings County Superior Court No. 19-3-03895-4 SEA

> Aaron Myers WSBA No. 55928 Attorney for Petitioner 300 Lenora St., Ste. 900 Seattle, Washington 98121 Ph: 877-412-4786 aaron@mltalaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner in this proceeding is Axel Rietschin ("Petitioner"), the husband in the underlying marriage dissolution proceeding and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals. The Superior Court found that it had subject matter jurisdiction over the parties' dissolution and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

II. DECISION

Petitioner seeks this Court's review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, in Case No. 82473-2-I, dated July 11, 2022, affirming the Superior Court's determination that it had subject matter jurisdiction over the parties' marriage. A true and correct copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is appended hereto as Attachment "A".

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) based on the following issue:

1. WHETHER THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT IT HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THE PARTIES' MARRIAGE.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While the circumstances of the proceedings and facts of the case are summarized in the attached Court of Appeals opinion, Petitioner would like to emphasize certain facts that were disregarded in the Court of Appeals.

On April 10, 2019, Respondent Dominika Rietschin ("Respondent") filed a petition for dissolution of marriage in the trial court. Clerk's Papers [CP] 12. In the petition, Respondent stated that she and Petitioner, along with their minor children A.R. and K.R., moved to King County, Washington, on or about June 3, 2014. CP 5. Petitioner, who worked as an engineer at Microsoft, came to the United States on a L-1A nonimmigrant visa¹ for intracompany executives. CP 93, 215. Respondent and the children came on L-2 visas as

¹ 8 U.S. Code § 1101(a)(15)(L)

Petitioner's dependents.² Respondent testified that Petitioner had a L-1 visa and she and the children had L-2 dependent visas. VRP 371-373. Petitioner and Respondent separated on or about September 30, 2018. CP 5.

Petitioner testified that he was a Swiss citizen and only has a Swiss passport. VRP 459. He never applied for American citizenship or permanent residency in the United States. VRP 459. He was a temporary worker, "like a tourist in this country." VRP 461. The plan always was to return to Switzerland; the only thing that had changed was the anticipated date of return. VRP 570- 71. Petitioner also kept his apartment in Geneva, Switzerland, and rented it to students. VRP 569.

Petitioner maintained that his children are Swiss, not American: "We are all here on a temporary manner, and they will return to their home country whenever I return," as he was the primary visa holder. VRP 533-34, 572, 574. Petitioner

² 9 FAM 402.12-16(A)(U)

testified that the children wanted to return to Switzerland with him. VRP 549-50

While litigating a proposed parenting plan, Petitioner noted that Respondent "knew it would take three to five years to establish myself professionally in America, and that we never had plans to stay in the country indefinitely, as the horizon of our nonimmigrant status extended to a maximum of seven years³." CP 758. Petitioner stated that Respondent was aware that he "was not very inclined to change [their] status to permanent residency, although [he] left that option open." CP 758. Petitioner would later repeat this point: "*I feel the need to repeat we are not Americans and I have no intent to reside here permanently*." CP 861 (emphasis added).

Respondent conceded that as of December of 2019, she no longer was authorized to work in the United States pursuant to the terms of her nonimmigrant temporary status. VRP 385, 441. She would need new immigration status to obtain a new

³ 9 FAM 402.12-14(C)(U)

employment authorization document (EAD). VRP 386-87,

437. Respondent conceded that when she filed for divorce, she had an L-2 visa, which she could not qualify for if she were not the spouse of a primary L-1 visa holder like Petitioner. VRP 385. Respondent also conceded that Petitioner kept his apartment in Geneva so that he could move back there at any time. VRP 73-74, 404.

After the court of appeals issued a decision finding it had subject matter jurisdiction over the parties' marriage, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration on July 29, 2022 requesting that the court of appeals reconsider its decision as Respondent was always a temporary resident of Washington and could never stay indefinitely anywhere in the United States without breaking the law. Petitioner emphasized that Respondent was never domiciled in the United States, and therefore never domiciled in the State of Washington. Petitioner argued that he and Respondent were never immigrants under 8 U.S. Code § 1101(a)(15)(L), and that they were temporarily admitted into

the United States under a nonimmigrant via classification L. Petitioner emphasized that Respondent never changed her visa classification to that of a permanent resident or petitioned for such change. Petitioner requested that the trial court reconsider its decision and determine that any orders or judgments the trial court issued regarding Petitioner, Respondent, and their children are regarded as nullities as though they never existed. However, the trial court denied this motion in a September 6, 2022 decision.

On September 6, 2022, the trial court also withdrew its initial opinion dated July 11, 2022 and filed a new opinion. The September 6, 2022 opinion made the following change where the initial opinion dated July 11, 2022 stated the following: "However, Axel presented no legal support for his argument that the trial court cannot adjudicate a divorce unless the parties are U.S. citizens." This sentence was replaced and amended as follows by the September 6, 2022 version of the decision: "However, Axel presented no legal support for his argument that the trial court cannot adjudicate a divorce if the parties are present in the U.S. on temporary nonimmigrant visas."

It is important to note that the initial July 11, 2022 opinion by the court of appeals incorrectly stated that Petitioner argued that the court did not have jurisdiction because he is a Swiss national. This was not the argument set forth by Petitioner, as Petitioner has always argued that the court did not have jurisdiction because Petitioner and Respondent were in the United States temporarily, and therefore could not establish domicile here. The September 6, 2022 amended opinion by the court of appeals accurately reflects the argument set forth by Petitioner based on the changes made to such opinion, wherein the court of appeals concedes that Petitioner and Respondent were in the United States temporarily.

On September 23, 2022, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration regarding the trial court's amended decision. In his motion, Petitioner argued that the trial court did not have jurisdiction over temporary nonimmigrants, and he cited to 22 CFR § 41.31 and 8 U.S. Code § 1101(a)(15)(L) as authority for his argument that temporary nonimmigrants are precluded by law from staying permanently in the country, from which it follows they are precluded to establish domicile, as domicile is predicated on a permanent stay. Petitioner therefore argued that the trial court had no jurisdiction over the parties' marriage and legally they could not be domiciled in the United States. As a result, Petitioner again requested that the trial court reconsider its decision and nullify such orders, judgments, and decrees in this matter. Despite, such arguments, the trial court denied Petitioner's second Motion for Reconsideration.

V. ARGUMENT

A. DISCRETIONARY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT IT HAD JURISDICTION OVER THE PARTIES' MARRIAGE.

This Court should grant discretionary review because the Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Specifically, the public interest in this decision has the potential to affect numerous nonimmigrants admitted under L, H, and similar temporary work visas and other temporary residents in the State of Washington, such as tourists.

i. The Trial Court Did Not Have Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

RCW 26.09.030 provides that a divorce proceeding may be initiated either by or against a resident of the State of Washington. Petitioner maintained throughout the proceeding that he was Swiss, and that he always intended to return to his home country. While Respondent alleged that she wished to stay in the United States indefinitely, she was a nonimmigrant alien residing temporarily. Because the record shows that neither Petitioner nor Respondent intended to remain, or could remain, in the United States permanently before the Petition for Dissolution was filed, neither was domiciled in Washington for jurisdictional purposes. Therefore, the Superior Court never had jurisdiction over the divorce proceeding and its decree should have been reversed or nullified.

Subject matter jurisdiction over divorce proceedings exists if one party is a resident of Washington during the proceedings. *Marriage of Robinson*, 159 Wn. App. 162, 164 (2010). Residence here means "domicile in fact," an intent to reside "presently" in Washington. *Marriage of Ways*, 85 Wn.2d 693, 697 (1975); *Robinson*, 159 Wn. App. at 164. Domicile requires physical presence and intent to reside. *Id*. "Domicile: . . . the place of an individual's true, fixed, and permanent home." 20 CFR 725.231. Stated another way, domicile consists of physical presence at a particular place, along with the absence of any intention to establish domicile elsewhere. *See Thomas v. Thomas*, 58 Wn.2d 377, 380 (1961). Domicile means an intent to make a home at the present moment, not an intent to make a home in the future. *In re Lassin's Estate*, 33 Wn.2d 163, 167 (1949); *Robinson*, 159 Wn. App. at 168.

While it is possible for an immigrant to the United States to establish domicile in a state such as Washington, the problem in this case is that Respondent could not have had a true intent to do so because, as a temporary nonimmigrant, objectively she had no way of accomplishing that goal. First, the record on appeal contained ample testimony to prove that no one in the family, including Respondent, intended to reside in Washington permanently. Petitioner testified before the trial court multiple times that he and the family were not and could not be permanent residents of Washington. In two separate pleadings, he expressed the family's desire to return to Switzerland once his work obligations in the United States ended. CP 758, 861. He also testified multiple times about his intent to ultimately return to Switzerland. VRP 459-61, 533-34, 569-71.

Petitioner's testimony was corroborated by other evidence. Gabriella Diez-Gomez, who has known the family since their time in Switzerland, testified repeatedly that they never intended to remain permanently in the United States and that the trip was strictly temporary for Petitioner to advance his career and support the family. VRP 235, 237-38. While Respondent's assertions that the family intended to permanently remain in the United States is based entirely on her own perception of events and other people's intent, Petitioner's testimony corroborates the perception of other people involved in the family's lives, including friends from their native country.

Second, at the time the divorce was pending, Respondent was only authorized to be in the United States temporarily, by virtue of her L-2 dependent visa. Upon divorcing Petitioner,

Respondent no longer would be his dependent and her L-2 visa would automatically become void as a consequence. She would no longer be authorized to remain in the United States. Thus, Respondent was not capable of becoming a permanent resident of Washington. The worker-dependent visa Respondent had was always temporary and was set to end upon the marriage's dissolution.

Respondent's "intent" to reside in Washington was illusory. She never had the ability to establish a domicile in Washington independent of her marriage to Petitioner and the dependent visa she received being his spouse, and even if she had, a court cannot assert jurisdiction based on future events. The trial court never had jurisdiction over this matter. Its judgment of divorce, as well as the rulings on custody, support, and distribution, should have been vacated by the Court of Appeals for lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the parties and their marriage.

ii. The Court of Appeals Decision Was Erroneous.

The Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed the trial court's rulings and that the trial court had jurisdiction over the matter. Despite Petitioner setting forth critical facts that demonstrated Respondent was not capable of being domiciled in Washington due to her immigration status being that of a temporary nonimmigrant, and therefore could not have possessed the requisite intent, the Court of Appeals determined that Respondent's presence and alleged intent to stay indefinitely were sufficient for the trial court to adjudicate the dissolution pursuant to RCW 26.09.030.

The cases cited to by the Court of Appeals in support of its decision are readily distinguishable from the present matter. The Court of Appeals did cite to some cases that specifically addressed the issue of whether a person with a nonimmigrant visa may still establish domicile for purposes of a residency requirement for dissolution of marriage. However, none of those cases were Washington case law, and thus they are not binding precedent.⁴ The Court of Appeals did not rely on any binding case law from Washington State to establish that Respondent was domiciled in this state as a nonimmigrant with a temporary visa.

Moreover, those cases from other states have distinguishable facts. In *Maghu v. Singh*, 181 A.3d 518 (Vt. 2018), a Vermont case, the husband's taking steps to secure permanent-resident status supported a conclusion that the husband intended to reside in the state indefinitely. Here, Respondent was not capable for taking steps to secure her permanent residency in Washington due to her temporary nonimmigrant visa status.

In the California case *In re Marriage of Dick*, 15 Cal.App.4th 144, 154 (1993), cited to by the Court of Appeals,

⁴ The out-of-state cases cited by the Court of Appeals are *Maghu v. Singh*, 206 Vt. 413, 181 A.3d 518 (2018); *In re Marriage of Dick*, 15 Cal.App.4th 144, 156 (1993); *Bustamante v. Bustamante*, 645 P.2d 40, 42 (Utah 1982); *Abou-Issa v. Abou-Issa*, 229 Ga. 77, 79, 189 S.E.2d 443 (1972); *Alves v. Alves*, 262 A.2d 111, 115 (D.C. 1970).

the court held that the husband's nonimmigrant status did not preclude a finding of residence under California law for purposes of obtaining a dissolution of marriage. However, that finding was supported by distinguishable facts where one party was a U.S. Citizen. *Id.* at 152. Similar facts do not exist in this matter.

In the Utah case *Bustamante v. Bustamante*, 645 P.2d 40 (Utah 1982), the matter was remanded back down to the trial court to determine whether the immigrant wife met the residency requirement for jurisdiction purposes in a divorce matter. The court stated it "express[ed] no opinion" regarding that issue, and therefore it is questionable how the Court of Appeals relied on this case when making its decision. Additionally, the wife was qualified as an 'immigrant' in this case.

Given that the aforementioned cases are not binding precedent and that they contain facts that are distinguishable from this matter, the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court had jurisdiction over this divorce matter.

iii. Pursuant to Federal Law, Respondent Could Not Be Lawfully Domiciled in the United States as a Temporary Nonimmigrant.

Petitioner set forth an argument before the trial court, in his declaration submitted to the court on or about November 15, 2019, about the effect that the parties' L visas had on the parties' ability to establish domicile in the United States. He explained that Respondent and their children would be required to leave the United States in the event Petitioner's visa expires or is revoked for any reason. Respondent would lose her dependent status, visa, and work authorization at the time of the parties' dissolution of marriage as her L-2 dependent status was granted on the sole basis that she was married to Petitioner⁵.

Qualified foreign nationals may be granted L-1 status to "to enter the United States temporarily" to render services to

⁵ 9 FAM 402.12-16(A)(U)

certain U.S. employers in a capacity that is managerial, executive, or involves specialized knowledge. 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(L). The spouse and minor children of an L-1 nonimmigrant may be granted L-2 status as a dependent of the L-1 employee. *Id*.

The L status is granted on a temporary basis and an individual with such visa is considered to be a "nonimmigrant". A nonimmigrant is "a noncitizen who is admitted to the United States for a specific temporary period of time." USCIS Policy Manual, Volume 2, Part A, Chapter 1,

https://www.uscis.gov/policy-manual/volume-2-part-a-chapter-

 Every nonimmigrant who applies for admission to the United States "must agree to abide by the terms and conditions of his or her admission." 8 C.F.R. § 214.1(a)(3)(i).

The L-2 status by itself is a nonimmigrant status that only authorizes a <u>temporary stay</u> in the United States. Although applicants for L status may seek, or have sought, permanent residence in the United States, the L status by itself is not an immigrant status and does not grant permanent residence as those who enter the United States on an L-1 or L-2 status are granted a temporary nonimmigrant status for up to three years (unless an extension of stay is granted). 9 FAM 402.12-13; *see also* 9 FAM 402.12-14. The total maximum stay allowed for L applicants is limited to either five years or seven years, depending on the nature of the L-1 principal's employment. *Id*. Therefore, L-1 or L-2 status by itself does not provide authorization to remain in the United States on a permanent basis.

Furthermore, because the L-2 status is a temporary nonimmigrant status, the foreign national is required to attest that they will depart the United States at the end of their temporary stay. "At the time of admission or extension of stay, every nonimmigrant alien must also agree to depart the United States at the expiration of stay, or upon abandonment of his or her authorized nonimmigrant status...the nonimmigrant alien's failure to comply with those departure requirements...may

constitute a failure of the alien to maintain the terms of his or her nonimmigrant status." 8 C.F.R. § 214.1(a)(3)(ii).

Nonimmigrants cannot stay in the United States indefinitely: 9 FAM 102.3-14 (U) N DEFINITIONS "d. (U) Nonimmigrant: "A foreign born person who is coming to the United States temporarily for a particular purpose <u>but does not</u> **remain permanently**..." (emphasis added).

Although "temporary" is not specifically defined by either statute or regulation, it generally signifies a limited period of stay⁶. The fact that the period of stay in a given case may exceed six months or a year is not in itself controlling, if you are satisfied that the intended stay has a time limitation and is not indefinite in nature. "The admission to the United States of any alien as a nonimmigrant shall be for such time and under such conditions as the Attorney General may by regulations prescribe, including when he deems necessary the giving of a bond with sufficient surety in such sum and containing such

⁶9 FAM 402.2-2(D)(U)

conditions as the Attorney General shall prescribe, to insure that at the expiration of such time or upon failure to maintain the status under which he was admitted, or to maintain any status subsequently acquired under section 1258 of this title, such alien will depart from the United States." 8 U.S. Code § 1184(a)(1). The Secretary of Homeland Security may, under such conditions as he may prescribe, authorize a change from any nonimmigrant classification to any other nonimmigrant classification in the case of any alien lawfully admitted to the United States as a nonimmigrant who is continuing to maintain that status. .." 8 U.S. Code § 1258(a).

Pursuant to 8 USC § 1101(a)(31): "The term 'permanent' means a relationship of continuing or lasting nature, as distinguished from temporary, but a relationship may be permanent even though it is one that may be dissolved eventually at the instance either of the United States or of the individual, in accordance with law." To reside in the United States on a permanent basis, an L-2 nonimmigrant would need

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