FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/21/2022 11:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101410-4

Court of Appeals No. 82473-2-I

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Marriage of

DOMINIKA RIETSCHIN,

Respondent,

v.

AXEL RIETSCHIN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

To establish domicile in Washington State, Respondent Dominika Rietschin need only show that she had the present intent to make Washington her home. She plainly did so: the parties, who have lived here since 2014, rented a home, registered their cars, worked, enrolled their children in public schools and activities, established medical and dental care, and engaged in community and social activities. After the divorce, Dominika planned to remain in Washington with the parties' children, her then finance (now husband), and their baby.

In an unpublished opinion, the appellate court correctly rejected Axel's argument that Dominika necessarily lacked the requisite intent for domicile because her visa status was that of a temporary nonimmigrant. As the court correctly held, domicile is not dependent on citizenship or lawful status. This Court should deny review of this correct decision and award Dominika fees.

RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where the parties have lived in Washington since 2014, and where Dominika presented substantial evidence of her present intent to make Washington her home, did the appellate court correctly hold that her immigration status does not negate her Washington domicile such that the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction over the parties' dissolution?

FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

This Answer takes the facts from the appellate decision, with which Axel does not disagree:

Dominika, a Polish citizen, and Axel, a Swiss citizen, married in Switzerland in 2012. In 2014, Dominika, Axel, and their two children moved to Washington for Axel's work. They rented a house and shipped their belongings from Switzerland. They enrolled the children in local public schools and got them involved in after-school activities and summer camps, established medical care, engaged in cultural and community activities, and registered their vehicles in Washington. They both held jobs in Washington. They borrowed money toward the purchase of a home here, though the purchase fell through due to inspections.

Dominika and Axel separated in October 2018, and Dominika filed for dissolution in April 2019. Axel contested the court's jurisdiction over the dissolution proceedings, arguing that because he was in Washington on a "temporary" work visa, he and his dependents were not domiciled here. At trial, Dominika testified that Axel's job was a permanent position—an opportunity for him to make his career—and that the parties had no concrete plans or date to return to Switzerland. She recounted that she viewed the family's 2014 relocation to Washington as "a new beginning." She further stated that her personal intent was to remain permanently in Washington with her two children she had with Axel, her fiancé, and her new baby. Axel characterized his status as a temporary worker as "like a tourist in this country." He testified that the plan was always to return to Switzerland, and the only thing that changed was the anticipated date of return. Axel kept his apartment in Geneva and rented it to students.

The trial court determined that the domicile requirement was met and that it had jurisdiction to dissolve the parties' marriage. After finding it had jurisdiction, the court then dissolved the parties' marriage and divided property according to the parties' Swiss marital contract. The court also awarded Dominika custody and primary decision-making authority over the children and ordered Axel to pay child support. Further, the court awarded Dominika attorney fees based on the parties' need and ability to pay and imposed sanctions and civil penalties against Axel for repeated failure to comply with court orders.

Marriage of Rietschin, Unpublished, No. 82473-2-I at 2-3
(2002) *with* Pet. 6.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The appellate court correctly held that the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction based on Dominika’s domicile in Washington. Pet. 13-17.

Our trial courts have subject matter jurisdiction over dissolution petitions so long as one of the parties is a Washington resident, meaning they are domiciled here. Domicile means simply residence in Washington with the present intent to make Washington one’s home. The appellate court correctly held that Dominika met this standard. This Court should deny review.

The appellate court correctly stated the law:

RCW 26.09.030 requires that in order for a party to file a petition for dissolution in Washington, either the petitioner or the petitioner’s spouse must be a resident of the state. Residence, in this context, means “domicile.” ... “The indispensable elements of domicile are residence in fact coupled with the intent to make a place of residence one’s home.”

No 82473-2-I at 3-4. Axel agrees. Pet. 14-15.

The appellate court correctly held that Dominika met this standard:

Here, the undisputed evidence of Dominika's years lived in Washington, combined with the testimony regarding her subjective intention to remain and make a permanent home here support the trial court's finding that she is domiciled in the state.

No. 82473-2-I at 4. As the court noted, this is amply supported by Dominika's testimony that "she sought a divorce in Washington rather than Switzerland "[b]ecause I live in United States" and that "she did not want to return to Switzerland or Poland because 'I live here currently, I have three children, and I am in a happy relationship. I don't have reason, frankly, to go back to Europe.'" *Id.* at 4-5.

Much more supports the holding that Dominika had the present intent to make Washington her home:

- When the parties moved to Washington, they rented a home and made plans to purchase. RP 72, 345
- They shipped their furniture and other belongings, and registered their cars here. RP 73, 345.

- Their children attend public schools, and the family has doctors, dentists, and the like. RP 65, 72-73, 189, 344, 523.
- Dominika and the children have friendships and social connections. RP 75, 296-97, 513-15, 523.
- Dominika intends to remain in Washington with her then fiancée, now husband, and her three children, and to obtain a Green Card. RP 311, 438.

Axel mistakenly focuses on his own intentions, or on his professed belief about Dominika's intentions. Pet. 15-16. Axel's intentions are irrelevant, as Washington law requires only that Dominka intended to make Washington her home. RCW 26.09.030.

Axel next argues that Dominika's intent to reside here is "illusory," where she cannot establish domicile without remaining married to Axel:

Respondent's "intent" to reside in Washington was illusory. She never had the ability to establish a domicile in Washington independent of her marriage to Petitioner and the dependent visa she received being his spouse ...

Pet. 17. The appellate court correctly rejected this argument too (No. 82473-2-I):

Axel argued that Dominika's intent was illusory, as her immigration status was linked to his and she had no legal right to remain in the country without him. ... Axel presented no legal support for his argument that the trial court cannot adjudicate a divorce if the parties are present in the U.S. on temporary nonimmigrant visas.

We reject Axel's argument based on immigration status and future intent. Neither U.S. citizenship nor U.S. legal status is required to establish domicile for purposes of a dissolution proceeding; Washington's statute, RCW 26.09.030, requires only residency.

Finally, Axel claims that the appellate court erroneously failed to reverse the trial courts "rulings on custody, support, and distribution" as well. Pet. 17. He omits that he conceded the point (No. 82473-2-I at 6 n.4):

Axel conceded in his reply brief and at oral argument that the trial court had personal jurisdiction over him as well as subject matter jurisdiction to make child custody determinations under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), Chap. 26.27 RCW. As such, we need not separately address the trial court's authority or jurisdiction to decide property distribution, child support, and parenting/visitation rights.

This Court should deny review of the appellate court's correct decision.

B. The appellate decision is consistent with persuasive authority from other states upon which it relies. Pet. 18-20.

In stating that Washington's domicile statute requires only residency, not citizenship or legal status, the appellate court relied on persuasive authority from other states:

Other jurisdictions that have addressed the issue have held that a person with a nonimmigrant visa may still establish domicile for purposes of a residency requirement for dissolution. See, e.g., **Maghu v. Singh**, 2018 VT 2, 206 Vt. 413, 181 A.3d 518; **In re Marriage of Dick**, Cal. App. 4th 144, 156, 18 Cal. Rptr. 2d 743 (1993); **Bustamante v. Bustamante**, 645 P.2d 40, 42 (Utah 1982); **Abou-Issa v. Abou-Issa**, 229 Ga. 77, 79, 189 S.E.2d 443 (1972); **Alves v. Alves**, 262 A.2d 111, 115 (D.C. 1970). Further, under ER 413(b), evidence of a party's immigration status is inadmissible unless it is essential to proving an element of a cause of action.

No. 82473-2-I at 5 n.3. Axel ignores the court's reliance on **Abou-Issa** and **Alves** for obvious reason. Pet. 18-20.

Abou-Issa plainly holds that the husband's contention that the wife "lacked the legal capacity to establish a domicile in the United States because she was here on a temporary visa is without merit." 229 Ga. at 79.

Indeed, the husband conceded “that this contention is contrary to the prevailing view in other jurisdictions.” *Id.*

Alves similarly holds that a party’s “entrance into the United States on a nonimmigrant visa ... has little relevance to the question of domicile.” 262 A.2d at 115. There, wife claimed that husband lacked the legal capacity to establish domicile in the District of Columbia because he was present in the United States on a nonimmigrant visa. *Id.* at 114. She argued too that husband must be admitted to the United States “as a permanent resident before he can become domiciled” *Id.* The court rejected both contentions (*id.* at 115):

Nor do we think that the fact appellee did not apply for permanent residence in the United States forecloses the possibility of his being domiciled in the District of Columbia. Under the Immigration and Nationality Laws it is possible, for a variety of reasons, for an alien to remain in the United States for many years, as appellee has done, without applying for permanent residence. Furthermore, to impose such a requirement would have the effect of denying appellee access to our courts without regard to the period of time he has resided in the District of

Columbia, his intentions in moving into the District of Columbia and other relevant factors. Just as aliens are subject to the jurisdiction of our courts, they should be entitled to invoke the jurisdiction of the courts for their own benefit.

Similar reasoning underlies any discussion of appellee's entrance into the United States on a nonimmigrant visa, renewable every two years, to work for the I.M.F. and its bearing on the issue of domicile. ... A visa is a document of entry required of aliens by the United States Government and is a matter under the control of the Government. It has little relevance to the question of domicile. The fact that appellee entered the United States on a nonimmigrant visa to work for the I.M.F. does not preclude a finding that appellee could become domiciled in the District of Columbia.

Ignoring these two cases that directly contradict his claims, Axel faults the appellate court's reliance on the other cases cited. Pet. 18-20. He claims that *Maghu* is distinguishable because the husband's steps to "secure permanent-resident status supported a conclusion that the [he] intended to reside in the state indefinitely." Pet. 19. He argues that Dominika, by contrast, cannot "secure her permanent residency in Washington due to her temporary nonimmigrant visa status." *Id.*

Axel omits that *Maghu* expressly rejects wife's argument that husband could not intend to remain in the United States for purposes of establishing domicile, where his "temporary nonimmigrant visa has a set end date ..." 206 Vt. at 420. While a temporary visa might allow an inference that husband originally intended to return to his home country, "it does not prevent him from subsequently forming a bona fide intent to remain in Vermont indefinitely." *Id.* For this reason, Vermont joined a number of states allowing domicile "despite a party's presence in the state on a temporary nonimmigrant visa." *Id.* (collecting cases).

Axel next attempts to distinguish *Marriage of Dick* on the basis that the "finding" "that the husband's nonimmigrant status did not preclude a finding of residence ... was supported by distinguishable facts where one party was a U.S. Citizen." Pet 19-20 (citing 15 Cal. App. 4th at 152). But wife's U.S. citizenship does not appear to have

affected the court’s decision that “husband’s nonimmigrant status does not preclude a finding of residence under California law for purposes of obtaining a dissolution of marriage.” *Id.* at 154. Among the many reasons for this correct conclusion, the court explained that immigration status and residency are not the same thing (*id.* at 155):

This conclusion is buttressed by the different aims and purposes of immigration and dissolution law; “there is no rational ground for intermingling these two distinct areas of law . . .” (***Williams v. Williams***, ... 328 F.Supp. [1380,] 1383 [(D.V.I. 1971)].) It is not necessary for the courts of this state to carry out immigration policy by denying nonimmigrant aliens a judicial forum when they otherwise meet domiciliary requirements and when they are subject to the courts of this state for other purposes.

Finally, Axel criticizes the appellate court’s “questionable” reliance on ***Bustamante***, in which the court remanded with instructions to determine whether wife established residency without opining on the ultimate outcome of that question. Pet. 20. The appellate court’s reason for citing ***Bustamante*** is not questionable at all,

where it explains at length the many reasons one's immigration status is not dispositive of the residency requirement for jurisdiction over a dissolution. 645 P.2d at 41-42. Among those, the court explained that residency is a matter of state law, not federal immigrant law:

A state must determine who qualifies as a resident under its own laws, and need not assist the Federal Government in enforcing the immigration and naturalization laws. Numerous cases have held that nonimmigrating aliens may form the requisite intent to establish a permanent residence necessary for divorce jurisdiction.

Id. at 42 (collecting cases).

In sum, the appellate decision that immigration status is not dispositive of residency is consistent with numerous other states. This Court should deny review.

C. Axel still provides no authority for his assertion that under “federal law” a temporary nonimmigrant cannot be lawfully domiciled in the United States. Pet. 21-27.

As the appellate court correctly held, “Axel presented no legal support for his argument that the trial court cannot adjudicate a divorce if the parties are present in the U.S.

on temporary nonimmigrant visas.” No. 82473-2-I at 5. He still fails to do so. Pet. 21-27. Indeed, Axel’s argument is just one long assertion that L visa status is temporary by nature, so prevents a party from establishing domicile. *Id.* This is plainly incorrect for the exact same reasons addressed immediately above: one’s nonimmigrant visa status has little to do with domicile, a matter of state law. This Court should deny review.

Axel provides a lengthy discussion of L visa status, very little of which is supported by any citation to the record or legal authority. *Id.* This culminates in his admission that while L visa status is temporary, L visa holders can seek permanent residency in the United States. Pet. 22-23. Thus, his point is merely that “L-1 or L-2 status *by itself* does not provide authorization to remain in the United States on a permanent basis.” Pet. 23 (emphasis added). That is true, but irrelevant.

As the appellate court correctly held, RCW 26.09.030 requires only residency, not citizenship or legal status. No. 82473-2-I at 5. Simply stated, Dominika does not have to prove to Axel's satisfaction that she has a plan to change her legal status to permanent resident. *Id.*; *supra*, Argument §B. Instead, she must meet the domicile requirements of Washington State, and did so. *Id.*

This is consistent with the many cases cited by the appellate court, and many more addressed therein. *Id.* These cases directly address and reject the premise underpinning Axel's argument that Dominika cannot possess the requisite intent for domicile because her legal immigration status is temporary, not permanent:

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